### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

### No. 19-1066

ROSALINDA VALLES, individually, and On behalf of F.L., her minor child,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

VS.

ANDREW MUETING, D.O., JOSEPH LIEWER, M.D., NORTHWEST IOWA EMERGENCY PHYSICIANS, P.C., AMY WINGERT, M.D., KELLY RYDER, M.D., et al.,

Defendants-Appellees.

# APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR WOODBURY COUNTY

HON. JEFFREY L. POULSON

### APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

Jim Leventhal, PHV001231
Bruce L. Braley, AT0001132
Brian N. Aleinikoff, PHV001246
Benjamin I. Sachs, PHV001848
Leventhal Puga Braley P.C.
950 South Cherry Street, Suite 600
Denver, CO 80246

Office: 303-759-9945 Fax: 303-759-9692

Email: jim@leventhal-law.com

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### 1. Introduction

This case arises out of the medical care, evaluation and treatment provided to an 11-year old boy (F.L.) after he was brought to the emergency department at Mercy Medical Center—Sioux City Hospital. (Am. App. Vol. 1 p. 1309). Although F.L. exhibited classic signs and symptoms of bacterial meningitis, his infection went undiagnosed and untreated at the hospital while his neurological condition deteriorated significantly, and he developed a severe bacterial meningitis infection. As a result, F.L. suffered a permanent and catastrophic brain injury.

Rosalinda Valles, as F.L.'s mother and conservator, asserted claims against 10 physicians (Andrew Mueting, D.O., Joseph Liewer, M.D., Jamie

Dodge, M.D., <sup>1</sup> Jesse Nieuwenhuis, M.D., Said Hasib Sana, M.D., Thomas Morgan, M.D., Aruntha Swampillai, M.D., Amy Wingert, M.D., Kelly Ryder, M.D., Leah Johnson, M.D., and Rex Rundquist, M.D.) for medical negligence and loss of parental consortium. She also asserted direct and vicarious liability claims against three professional corporations (Northwest Iowa Emergency Physicians, P.C., Siouxland Medical Education Foundation, and Prairie Pediatrics & Adolescent Clinic, P.C. d/b/a Prairie Pediatrics, P.C.), as well as against Mercy Health Services–Iowa Corp. d/b/a Mercy Medical Center— Sioux City Hospital. She alleged that the above-named doctors and other healthcare providers were negligent in failing to timely diagnose and properly treat F.L.'s bacterial meningitis infection (Am. App. Vol. 1 p. 1309), and that she and F.L. sustained injuries, damages and losses as a result. (Am. App. Vol. 1 p. 1316).

The Defendants denied they were negligent or that their acts or omissions caused any of the claimed injuries, damages and losses, and also raised a number of affirmative defenses.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The claims against Dr. Jaime Dodge were voluntarily dismissed with prejudice prior to trial. (Am. App. Vol. 1 p. 3590).

Subsequently, Rosalinda Valles, on behalf of herself and F.L., reached pretrial settlement agreements regarding the claims against Dr. Nieuwenhuis, Dr. Swampillai, Dr. Morgan, Dr. Johnson, Dr. Sana, Siouxland Medical Education Foundation, and Mercy Medical Center—Sioux City Hospital (hereinafter referred to collectively as the "settling defendants"). (Am. App. Vol. 1 p. 3521; Vol. 2 p. 186:21-187:12).

The trial court had previously granted Defendants' joint summary judgment motion and determined as a matter of law that Iowa Code § 147.136 barred recovery of past medical expenses in this case to the extent medical assistance had previously been provided for F.L. under the Texas Medicaid program, after his family moved out-of-state.<sup>3</sup> As outlined below, the trial court also rejected Rosalinda Valles' arguments that this statutory construction was preempted by the federal Medicaid statutes and suffered from constitutional infirmities.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Plaintiff later finalized the pretrial settlement agreements and formally dismissed the claims against all the settling defendants in April of 2019. (Am. App. Vol. 1 pp. 4047, 4049).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The trial court's Ruling on Defendants' Joint Motion for Summary Judgment Re: Texas Medicaid was filed June 7, 2018. (Am. App. Vol. 1 p. 1293).

Also, the trial court granted summary judgment motions filed on behalf of Defendants, Dr. Amy Wingert,<sup>4</sup> Dr. Kelly Ryder,<sup>5</sup> and Dr. Rex Rundquist (and his employer, Prairie Pediatrics & Adolescent Clinic, P.C. d/b/a Prairie Pediatrics, P.C.).<sup>6</sup>

Thus, by the time of trial, the only remaining claims were those against Dr. Andrew Mueting, Dr. Joseph Liewer and Northwest Iowa Emergency Physicians, P.C. Those claims were tried to a Woodbury County jury.<sup>7</sup> The

Dr. Jesse Nieuwenhuis, Dr. Aruntha Swampillai, Dr. Thomas Morgan, Dr. Leah Johnson, Dr. Said Sana, Siouxland Medical Education Foundation, and Mercy Medical Center are shown in the caption as defendants. The case against these defendants has been settled and they are released parties.

(Am. App. Vol. 2 p. 316:6-11).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The trial court's Ruling on Defendant Amy Wingert, M.D.'s August 17, 2018 Motion for Summary Judgment was filed October 12, 2018. (Am. App. Vol. 1 p. 2877).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The trial court's Ruling on Defendant Kelly Ryder, M.D.'s August 17, 2018 Motion for Summary Judgment was filed October 12, 2018. (Am. App. Vol. 1 p. 2885).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The trial court's Ruling on Defendants Rex Rundquist, M.D. and Prairie Pediatrics & Adolescent Clinic, P.C. d/b/a Prairie Pediatrics, P.C.'s August 9, 2018 Motion for Summary Judgment was filed October 12, 2018. The Plaintiff-Appellant does not seek to appeal this summary judgment order.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Notably, the trial court decided that the settling defendants would also be shown in the case caption. Moreover, in its opening remarks, the court informed the prospective jury panel that:

jury trial spanned several weeks in October and November of 2018. On November 21, 2018, the jury returned a verdict in favor of Dr. Mueting, Dr. Liewer and Northwest Iowa Emergency Physicians, P.C. (Am. App. Vol. 1 p. 3969; Vol. 2 p. 3217:1-9).

The trial court entered a Final Judgment that finally disposed of all claims asserted by Rosalinda Valles, individually and on behalf of F.L., against all parties, on May 29, 2019. (Am. App. Vol. 1 p. 4057). This timely appeal followed. (Am. App. Vol. 1 p. 4060). *See* Iowa R. App. P. Rule 6.101(1)(d).<sup>8</sup>

### 2. Motions for Summary Judgment

a. Determination of law regarding the interpretation of Iowa Code §147.136, following the trial court's order for the joinder of the Texas Health and Human Services Commission as an Indispensable Party

The Plaintiff sought to present evidence that after F.L. suffered his catastrophic brain injury, she incurred expenses for medical care and treatment and rehabilitative services. Since Rosalinda Valles and her family,

30

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Earlier this year, Plaintiff-Appellant had filed a premature Notice of Appeal in Case No. 19-0055. Treating that earlier appeal as an application for discretionary interlocutory appeal, the Supreme Court denied the application on March 24, 2019, and the *procedendo* subsequently issued on April 10, 2019.

including F.L., had moved to the State of Texas, where F.L. was eventually determined to be eligible for Medicaid benefits, a significant portion of the costs of care, treatment, and services F.L. claimed as a result of the complained of medical malpractice in this case was covered by the Texas Medicaid program.

On January 5, 2018, the Defendants jointly filed a motion for summary judgment. (Am. App. Vol. 1 p. 616). The Defendants asked the trial court to determine that Iowa Code §147.136 was applicable to this case, and to rule that Plaintiff's recovery of damages for medical expenses "shall not include any amount paid or to be paid by the Texas Medicaid program and that Defendants are not liable to Plaintiff, Texas, or any Texas entity (including the Texas Health and Human Services Commission) for such payments." (Am. App. Vol. 1 p. 618). Rosalinda Valles, in her resistance and

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Defendants also filed a simultaneous motion requesting the trial court to order the joinder of the Texas Health and Human Services Commission ("HHSC") in this case, which the Plaintiff resisted. (Am. App. Vol. 1 pp. 774, 806).

On March 7, 2018, the trial court issued an order for joinder of the Texas HHSC as an indispensable party, and an original civil notice was thereupon issued on March 9, 2018, and served on the Texas HHSC on March 13, 2018. (Am. App. Vol. 1 pp. 1270, 1282, 1287).

Consequently, the Texas Attorney General's Office, by letter dated April 27, 2018, notified the parties on behalf of the Texas HHSC that it was

memorandum of authorities filed January 26, 2018 (Am. App. Vol. 1 p. 837), argued that the Defendants' statutory interpretation was incorrect, that it was preempted by the federal Medicaid statutes, and that the Iowa legislature could not, without violating the U.S. Constitution's Full Faith and Credit Clause and other constitutional provisions, eliminate the right to recover from the Defendants for medical expenses related to F.L.'s injuries, including amounts

their position the Iowa District Court did not have jurisdiction over HHSC, an agency of the State of Texas; and, as such, HHSC did not recognize the court's authority over it in any respects and would not be making an appearance. (Am. App. Vol. 1 p. 1292). The trial court was promptly apprised and provided with a copy of the aforementioned letter during the hearing on Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment Re: Texas Medicaid Payments. (Am. App. Vol. 2 pp. 54:9-17, 61:5-14, 62:1-6).

On May 13, 2019, the United States Supreme Court, in its last of three opinions in *State Franchise Tax Bd. of Cal. v. Hyatt*, 587 U. S. \_\_\_\_, 139 S.Ct. 1485 (2019), held that States have sister-state sovereign immunity from private suits brought in courts of other States, and overruled an earlier decision to the contrary in *Nevada v. Hall*, 440 U. S. 410 (1979). *But cf. Franchise Tax Bd. of Cal.* v. *Hyatt*, 578 U. S. \_\_\_, 136 S.Ct. 1277, 1281 (2016) (the second of three opinions in that case, rejecting a constitutional challenge to *Nevada v. Hall* by operation of law due to an equally-divided court, yet holding that the Full Faith and Credit Clause of Article IV of the U.S. Constitution prohibits States from adopting a "policy of hostility to the public Acts" of another State).

While the trial court did not have the benefit of the last *Hyatt* opinion when it ordered the joinder of the Texas HHSC and ruled on the summary judgment motion regarding Texas Medicaid payments, there can be hardly any doubt that it did not possess jurisdiction over the Texas HHSC or the authority to decide issues relative to the rights of the State of Texas or its Medicaid agency.

paid on his behalf under the Texas Medicaid program, or extinguish the medical assistance lien of the Texas Medicaid agency, while preserving the medical assistance lien belonging to the State of Iowa's Medicaid agency. (Am. App. Vol. 1 p. 837; Vol. 2 pp. 62:7-65:5, 66:1-78:16, 88:8-92:23).

After hearing, the trial court ruled, inter alia:

- "[S]ection 147.136(1) does preclude a medical malpractice defendant's liability for those medical expenses *paid* by governmental benefit programs and payers except when those expenses are paid by Iowa's governmental benefit program. Thus, the Defendants are not liable for those past medical expenses paid by the Texas Medicaid program to the Plaintiffs";
- "[S]ection 147.136 precludes the Defendants liability for those medical expenses *already paid* by the Texas Medicaid program. The Plaintiff is therefore not permitted to recover those expenses as damages"; and
- "[T]he Texas Medicaid program is itself also not permitted to recover those expenses either directly from the Defendants or indirectly from the Plaintiffs." <sup>10</sup>

Am. App. Vol. 1 pp. 1302, 1303) (emphasis in original). 11

b. Defendants Amy Wingert, M.D. and Kelly Ryder, M.D.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> "[C]oncerning *future* medical expenses paid by Texas Medicaid," the trial court stated, however, that "section 147.136 will not preclude the recoverability of . . . *future* expenses by either the Plaintiff or Texas Medicaid." (Am. App. Vol. 1 p. 1304) (emphasis in original).

On August 17, 2018, Dr. Kelly Ryder filed a motion for summary judgment. (Am. App. Vol. 1 p. 1469). Also on August 17, 2018, Dr. Amy Wingert filed a motion for summary judgment that was substantially similar. (Am. App. Vol. 1 p. 1485). Dr. Ryder and Dr. Wingert, both of whom were then working at the hospital as residents, claimed that there was no evidence, even when viewed in the light most favorable to the Plaintiff, from which a reasonable juror could conclude that they were in a physician-patient relationship with F.L. that gave rise to duties of care, and that these duties were breached. (Am. App. Vol. 1 pp. 1485, 1471, 1487).

The Plaintiff filed a combined resistance and memorandum of authorities, as well as exhibits showing that Nurse Sandra Lang, who was caring for F.L. on the hospital's pediatrics floor, had paged Dr. Wingert about F.L.'s deteriorating neurologic status and serious medical needs on April 7, 2015, but that Dr. Wingert failed to return the page while being on call; and that there were also telephone communications between Nurse Lang and Dr. Ryder, who failed to appropriately respond to Nurse Lang's concerns while being on call and having the primary responsibility for covering patients on the hospital's pediatrics floor, including F.L. Additionally, the Plaintiff provided expert reports indicating that these Defendants were in a physician-

patient relationship with F.L., and the duties of care they owed to him were breached. Thus, the Plaintiff argued that the evidence of record and the reasonable inferences to be drawn therefrom, when viewed in the light most favorable to the Plaintiff, could lead a reasonable juror to conclude that these Defendants had formed an express or implied physician-patient relationship with F.L., giving rise to cognizable duties of care. (Am. App. Vol. 1 pp. 1513, 1518, 2569).

Both Defendants replied, and Dr. Wingert also submitted supplemental exhibits. (Am. App. Vol. 1 pp. 2545, 2555, 2569). The summary judgment motions came before the trial court for hearing on September 26, 2018. (Am. App. Vol. 2 pp. 99:12-125:15.) Subsequently, the trial court granted the summary judgment motions on October 12, 2018, finding that no genuine dispute of material fact existed concerning the formation of a physician-patient relationship with respect to either one of the Defendants, Dr. Wingert or Dr. Ryder, and that they were entitled to judgment in their favor as a matter of law. (Am. App. Vol. 1 pp. 2877, 2885).

# 3. Trial presentation of previously undisclosed expert testimony and opinions of Defendant's neuroradiology expert, Dr. Joel Meyer

On November 13, 2018, defense counsel called Joel R. Meyer, M.D.—out of order during the Plaintiff's case-in-chief—as a witness for the defense.

(Am. App. Vol. 2 pp. 1947:1-2; 1955:17-24). He was called to testify as an expert in neuroradiology. (Am. App. Vol. 2 p. 1962:11-12).

At the onset, Plaintiff's counsel brought an expert disclosure pertaining to Dr. Meyer dated December 15, 2017, to the trial court's attention, pointing out that it was just two pages. (Am. App. Vol. 1 p. 549). Plaintiff asked the trial court to preclude the introduction by defense counsel of any previously undisclosed expert testimony or opinions by Dr. Meyer, including any expert evidence that F.L. couldn't have had meningitis on April 5, 2015, and that something else must have caused the damage to F.L.'s brain at a later point in time, while he was under the care of the settling defendants instead. (Am. App. Vol. 2 pp. 1935:2-6, 1949:6-9, 1956:9-1958:9). 12

I do also want to bring to your attention that when you look at Dr. Meyer's disclosure, you will see there is no opinion as to the date when the meningitis started. The only thing he says on page 1, it says, Findings are suggestive of early meningitis. But never ever tries to date that, whether that's on April 8th, April 5th, 6th, 7th. And so I just want to alert the Court that if he tries to then say that it's his opinion it started on the 8th or 7th or whatever, it's not part of his opinion.

Furthermore, the disclosure -- We anticipate that Dr. Meyer may -- we don't know this for sure, but may suggest there's some other cause for [F.L.]'s brain injury

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Plaintiff's counsel explained his reasoning for this request as follows:

After a brief recess, the trial court made a preliminary ruling on the permissible scope of Dr. Meyer's expert testimony. The court's ruling allowed the Defendants to elicit testimony from Dr. Meyer as long as it was responsive to "specific issues raised in Dr. Madan's testimony," whether or not such opinions and their basis were set forth in Dr. Meyer's expert disclosure:

The scope of his testimony under Rule 1.508 is premised upon the concept that the scope of the expert's testimony must be within the fair scope of his report. And the testimony must all relate back to that disclosure. I believe that all the parties know what Dr. Madan testified to.

And it's therefore my ruling that under Rule 1.508(4) that the testimony must be limited to the fair scope of his disclosure, but also allows the defendants to respond to specific issues raised in Dr. Madan's testimony.

And within that range, I believe that the disclosure falls within the ambit of the scope set forth in 1.508(4).

(Am. App. Vol. 2 p. 1959:3-20).

other than this infection. It's not disclosed. It's not anywhere in his opinion. And furthermore, his deposition was never taken.

So with -- We are requesting that he be limited to the four corners of his disclosure which do[es]n't contain either an opinion as to when this process started or an opinion that something else other than the bacterial infection that got into his brain and caused his injury.

(Am. App. Vol. 2 pp. 1937:8-1938:6, 1958:1-9).

Subsequently, over Plaintiff's consistent and repeated objections that Dr. Meyer was expressing opinions that went beyond his two-page disclosure, Dr. Meyer was allowed to present testimony that the damage to F.L.'s brain was not caused by meningitis; that a CT scan taken on April 8, 2015, was negative, signifying that F.L. couldn't have had meningitis on April 5, 2015; that follow-up MR imaging studies indicated that the damage to F.L.'s brain injury resulted from of brain infarction or hypoxic-ischemic injury caused by a respiratory compromise that must have occurred sometime early in the morning on April 8, 2015; and to expansively disagree with opinions that had supposedly been expressed by the Plaintiff's neuroradiology expert, Dr. Neel Madan. (Am. App. Vol. 2 pp. 1973:10-2027:12; cf. pp. 1387:18-1483:1).

None of the aforementioned opinions of Dr. Meyer had previously been disclosed to the Plaintiff in his expert disclosure, and no supplemental disclosure of Dr. Meyer's opinions was furnished to the Plaintiff. Further, the Defendants made no showing that the nondisclosure of Dr. Meyer's opinions was either substantially justified or harmless.

4. The Plaintiff's directed verdict motion on the Defendants' defense of comparative fault of the settling defendant, Mercy Medical Center—Sioux City Hospital and its nursing staff.

After the Defendants rested, the Plaintiff moved for a directed verdict on the Defendant's comparative fault defense, arguing that the Defendants did

not present expert evidence of nursing negligence properly attributable to the hospital, or that any such negligence was a cause of the Plaintiff's or F.L.'s claimed injuries, damages or losses. (Am. App. Vol. 2 pp. 3047:13-3048:17, 3052:9-3053:10). The trial court reserved ruling on the motion temporarily. (Am. App. Vol. 2 pp. 3052:1-6, 3053:11). Plaintiff renewed her directed verdict motion that afternoon. (Am. App. Vol. 2 pp. 3064:7-3066:14). Again, the trial court declined to make a definitive ruling on the directed verdict motion, but instead submitted the defense of comparative fault to the jury, requiring the Plaintiff to address it in closing argument. (Am. App. Vol. 2 pp. 3067:2-3068:13, 3104:2-3105:24).

After trial, the Plaintiff again moved the trial court for a ruling on her directed verdict motion, which the Defendants opposed. (Am. App. Vol. 1 pp. 3990, 3998).

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