IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

ROSALINDA VALLES, Individually and on behalf of F.L., her minor child,

No. 19-1066

Plaintiff-Appellant,

VS.

ANDREW MUETING, D.O., AMY WINGERT, M.D., KELLY RYDER, M.D., JOSEPH LIEWER, M.D., AND NORTHWEST IOWA EMERGENCY PHYSICIANS, P.C.,

Defendants-Appellees.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR WOODBURY COUNTY

HON. JEFFREY L. POULSON

Defendants-Appellees Dr. Wingert and Dr. Ryder's Final Brief

Patrick G. Vipond LAMSON DUGAN & MURRAY LLP 10306 Regency Parkway Drive Omaha, NE 68114 (402) 397-7300; Fax: (402) 397-7824

pvipond@ldmlaw.com

Attorneys for Dr. Amy Wingert and Dr. Kelly Ryder

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Court Lacks Jurisdiction to Consider Plaintiff's Appeal

A. Procedural Background

The district court granted Defendants' motions for summary judgment on October 12, 2018. Amend. App. v.1 at 2877-83; 2885-91 (Orders 10-12-18). Dr. Jesse Nieuwenhuis, Dr. Aruntha Swampillai, Dr. Thomas Morgan, Dr. Leah Johnson, Dr. Said Sana, Siouxland Medical Education Foundation, and Mercy Medical Center (collectively "settling defendants") settled with Plaintiff prior to trial. Amend. App. v.1 at 3521-22.

Trial of the remaining defendants began on October 30, 2018. At trial, the settling defendants were treated as released parties under Iowa Code Ch. 668 and the issue of their negligence was submitted to the jury. Amend. App. v.1 at 3940, 3949, 3957-58. (Instruction Nos. 1, 10, 18-19); Amend. App. v.1 at 3254 (Plaintiff's requested instruction at 5, 10-17-18). The jury returned its verdict in favor of the remaining defendants on November 21, 2018, and judgment was entered the same day. Amend. App. v.1 at 3979 (Order, 11-21-18). Plaintiff's appeal was thus due on December 21, 2018. Iowa R. App. P. 6.101(1)(b).³

³ There were no posttrial proceedings that would delay this appeal date.

Plaintiff filed a notice of appeal on December 20, 2018. (No. 19-0055) ("First Appeal"). Amend. App. v.1 at 186 (Notice 12-20-18). Because the settling defendants had not yet been dismissed, Plaintiff claimed her First Appeal was "protective" and that she did not believe the case was ripe for appeal. *Id.* at 187. In response, the Supreme Court ordered Plaintiff to file a statement as to jurisdiction. Amend. App. v.1 at 4065 (Order 2-5-19). In her statement, Plaintiff said that her appeal should not be treated as an application for interlocutory review and asked that it be dismissed without prejudice. Amend. App. v.1 at 4080 (Statement at 12, 2-19-19). This Court nonetheless treated the First Appeal as an application for interlocutory review and denied the application on March 14, 2019. Amend. App. v.1 at 4109 (Order 3-14-19).

Plaintiff dismissed settling defendant Mercy with prejudice on April 15, 2019. Amend. App. v.1 at 4047 (Dismissal 4-15-19). She dismissed the other settling defendants with prejudice on April 30, 2019. Amend. App. v.1 at 4049 (Dismissals 4-30-19). On May 28, 2019, Plaintiff filed a motion asking the district court to enter a "final judgment" dismissing the settling defendants. Amend. App. v.1 at 4052-54 (Motion 5-28-19). The district court, despite the fact that such an order was superfluous and of no legal effect, filed the order on May 29, 2019. Amend. App. v.1 at 4057 (Order 5-

29-19). This appeal followed on June 24, 2019. Amend. App. v.1 at 4060 (Notice 6-24-19).

B. The November 21, 2018, Judgment Disposed of All Issues and Plaintiff's Appeal is Untimely

A notice of appeal must be filed within 30 days of a final order or judgment. Iowa R. App. P. 6.101(1)(b). In the present case, the November 21, 2018 judgment was a final, appealable order. There were no posttrial motions that would extend the appeal deadline. *See* Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.1007. Plaintiff's June 24, 2019 notice of appeal was not timely.

A final judgment or decision "is one that finally adjudicates the rights of the parties. It must put it beyond the power of the court which made it to place the parties in their original position." *In re M.W.*, 894 N.W.2d 526, 532 (Iowa 2017) (quoting *Johnson v. Iowa State Highway Comm'n*, 134 N.W.2d 916, 918 (Iowa 1965)). Moreover, "[t]wo final orders are possible in a single case, one putting it beyond the power of the court to put the parties in their original positions in relation to a specific issue, and the other adjudicating remaining issues in the case." *Gordon v. Brown*, 2003 WL 118502 (Iowa Ct. App. 2003) (quoting *Lyon v. Willie*, 288 N.W.2d 884, 887 (Iowa 1980)).

When the district court entered summary judgment in favor of Dr. Wingert and Dr. Ryder on October 12, 2018, issues remained for

adjudication with respect to the other defendants. Some of the defendants settled before trial. The remaining defendants proceeded to trial on October 30, 2018. Although the settling defendants had not yet been dismissed from the case, they were treated at trial as though they had and the issue of their comparative fault was submitted to the jury. See Iowa Code § 668.3; see also Appellant's Proof Brief at 20 ("Thus, by the time of trial, the only remaining claims were those against Dr. Andrew Mueting, Dr. Joseph Liewer and Northwest Iowa Emergency Physicians, P.C."). The jury returned its verdict in favor of the remaining defendants on November 21, 2018, and judgment was entered the same day. Amend. App. v.1 at 3979 (Order 11-21-18). Because the November 21, 2018 judgment fully adjudicated all remaining issues in the case, it was a final order and the Plaintiff had 30 days thereafter to appeal.

With respect to the settling defendants, the Plaintiff dismissed Mercy with prejudice on April 15, 2019. Amend. App. v.1 at 4047 (Dismissal 4-15-19). She dismissed the other settling defendants with prejudice on April 30, 2019. Amend. App. v.1 at 4049 (Dismissal 4-30-19). The completion of these dismissals concerned remaining unrelated issues and did not make the November 21, 2018 interlocutory. *See Gordon* at *2. Even if the Plaintiff's April 30, 2019 final dismissal of the last settling defendant is considered the

final adjudication on the merits of the entire case, Plaintiff's June 24, 2019 notice of appeal was untimely.

The district court's entry of a superfluous order "dismissing" the settling defendants on May 29, 2019 did not extend Plaintiff's deadline to file her notice of appeal. An order dismissing defendants who have already been dismissed has no effect and cannot extend the deadline to appeal.

In *Exec. Commercial Servs., Ltd. v. Al Johnson Cadillac, Inc.*, 412

N.E.2d 706 (Ill. App. 1980), a rental company sued a car dealer for the recovery of rentals of television equipment. The rental company filed for summary judgment against the car dealer. The motion was denied on November 22, 1977. On December 20, 1977, the rental company filed a timely motion to reconsider. After a series of lengthy continuances, the motion to reconsider was denied on December 5, 1979. A second order was entered on December 13, 1979 denying the same motion for reconsideration. The Appellate Court of Illinois held that the December 5, 1979 order was the operative order for calculating the appeal deadline and a January 11, 1980 notice of appeal was not timely. *Exec. Commercial Servs.*,

_

⁴ The rental company contended that the second order was "a more accurate statement" of the court's first order. *Exec. Commercial Servs., Ltd.*, 412 N.E.2d at 707. The Appellate Court of Illinois rejected this interpretation. *Id.*

Ltd., 412 N.E.2d at 707 ("In our opinion, the second order has no legal effect to extend the time for filing the notice of appeal"). The court explained:

The parties by their counsel cannot in effect abrogate the rules of the supreme court simply by the device of obtaining a second superfluous order denying the already denied motion to reconsider the order appealed from. To permit this practice would effectually nullify the time limitation for filing the notice of appeal expressed in the pertinent rule with most unfortunate consequences.

Id.

Likewise, the Plaintiff cannot abrogate the Iowa Rules of Appellate Procedure by obtaining an order dismissing defendants who have already been dismissed. It makes no difference that the May 29, 2019 order stated it was "the final disposition by this Court of all of the remaining issues and parties in this case." Amend. App. v.1 at 4058 (Order 5-29-19). By May 29, 2019, there were no remaining issues or parties requiring final disposition.⁵ Plaintiff requested this language for the transparent purpose of extending her appeal deadline. The May 29, 2019 order had no legal effect. It was not a disposition or adjudication of any issue remaining in the case because none

-

⁵ The claims against Dr. Meuting, Dr. Liewer, and Northwest Iowa Emergency Physicians, P.C. were fully adjudicated by the November 21, 2018 jury verdict and judgment. The claims against Mercy and the other settling defendants were fully adjudicated, at the latest, by their dismissals with prejudice on April 15, 2019 and April 30, 2019, respectively.

remained at that point. The May 29, 2019 order did not extend Plaintiff's appeal deadline. Her June 24, 2019 notice of appeal was untimely.

Plaintiff failed to timely appeal either the summary judgments in favor of Drs. Wingert and Ryder or the judgment in favor of the remaining defendants. Her appeal should be dismissed.

II. The District Court Properly Determined as a Matter of Law That Neither Dr. Wingert Nor Dr. Ryder Owed a Duty to F.L.

A. The Standard of Review

Review of a district court ruling on a motion for summary judgment is for correction of errors at law. *Albaugh v. Reserve*, 930 N.W.2d 676, 682 (Iowa 2019). Summary judgment is proper when the moving party has shown there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Id.* An appellate court reviewing a grant of summary judgment views the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *SEIU, Local 199 v. State*, 928 N.W.2d 69, 74 (Iowa 2019). "The court must consider on behalf of the nonmoving party every legitimate inference that can be reasonably deduced from the record." *Id.* (quoting *Thornton v. Am. Interstate Ins.*, 897 N.W.2d 445, 460 (Iowa 2017)).

B. Error Preservation

Defendants agree that Plaintiff has preserved this claimed error.

C. The District Court Correctly Determined that Dr. Wingert and Dr. Ryder Owed F.L. No Duty as a Matter of Law

The district court held as a matter of law that Dr. Wingert and Dr. Ryder had no physician-patient relationship with F.L. and therefore owed him no legal duty. Amend. App. v.1 at 2882-83; 2891 (Rulings 10-12-18). Plaintiff assigns this as error. (Appellant's Proof Brief at 47-64). Because the uncontroverted evidence established the absence of a physician-patient relationship, the district court properly decided this issue as a matter of law.

1. The existence of a physician-patient relationship is a prerequisite to the existence of a duty in a medical malpractice action.

The elements of a medical malpractice claim are "(1) an applicable standard of care, (2) a violation of this standard, and (3) a causal relationship between the violation and injury sustained." *Plowman v. Fort Madison Cmt. Hosp.*, 896 N.W.2d 393, 401 (Iowa 2017). Under Iowa law, "[a] physician owes a duty to his patient to exercise the ordinary knowledge and skill of his or her profession in a reasonable and careful manner when undertaking the care and treatment of a patient." *Id.* at 401.

To be successful in her claims against Dr. Wingert and Dr. Ryder,
Plaintiff must first establish that Dr. Wingert and Dr. Ryder owed a duty to

F.L. J.A.H. by R.M.H. v. Wadle & Assocs., 589 N.W.2d 256, 258 (Iowa 1999). Whether a duty exists is a question of law. *Id*. A duty generally requires privity, which exists when a physician-patient relationship is formed. *Id.* at 260; *Plowman* at 401. Absent the existence of a physicianpatient relationship, a physician does not owe a patient any duty. *Plowman*, at 412-13. See also Lyons v. Grether, 239 S.E.2d 103, 105 (Va. 1977) ("A physician's duty arises only upon the creation of a physician-patient relationship. . . "); Tomeh v. Bohannon, 765 S.E.2d 743, 746 (Ga. Ct. App. 2014) ("[D]octor-patient privity is an essential element because it is this relation which is a result of a consensual transaction that establishes the legal duty to conform to a standard of conduct"); Roberts v. Sankey, 813 N.E.2d 1195, 1197 (Ind. Ct. App. 2004) ("The duty owed by a physician arises from the physician-patient relationship. Thus, a physician-patient relationship is a legal prerequisite to a medical malpractice action").

The physician-patient relationship "is a consensual one in which the patient, or persons acting on the patient's behalf, knowingly employs the physician and the physician knowingly consents to treat the patient." Corbet v. McKinney, 980 S.W.2d 166, 169 (Mo. App. 1998) (emphasis added); see also 1 Louisell and Williams, MEDICAL MALPRACTICE, Section 8.03 [2] at 8-17 (1998); Pegalis & Wachsman, American Law of Medical

MALPRACTICE Section 2:3 at 45 (1980) "Because the express or implied consent of the physician is required, the physician must take some affirmative action with regard to treatment of a patient for the relationship to be established." 61 Am Jur 2d Physicians, Surgeons, and Other Healers § 130; *Irvin v. Smith*, 31 P.3d 934, 941 (Kan. 2001).

Plaintiff initially argues that the existence of a physician-patient relationship is a question of fact reserved for the jury. Appellant's Proof Brief at 51-54. This statement is generally true, but beside the point. Where, as here, the operative facts are not in dispute, the court may decide the issue as a matter of law. Wallace v. Des Moines Ind. Cmty. Sch. Dist. Bd. Of Drs., 754 N.W.2d 854, 857 (Iowa 2008) ("A matter may be resolved on summary judgment when the record demonstrates there is only a conflict concerning legal consequences of undisputed facts.")

_

⁶ Plaintiff acknowledges as much when she states "the existence of a physician-patient relationship is usually a question of fact reserved for the jury, *except where the facts are undisputed*." Appellant's Proof Brief at 51 (emphasis added). Plaintiff also states "[t]he majority of jurisdictions have concluded that whether a physician-patient relationship exists is *generally* a question of fact for the jury." *Id.* at 52 n17 (emphasis added). It is noteworthy that, of the eight cases Plaintiff cites in support of this proposition, four of them actually determined that there was no physician-patient relationship as a matter of law. *See Dodd-Anderson v. Stevens*, 905 F. Supp. 937, 944 (D. Kan. 1995); *Gallion v. Woytassek*, 504 N.W.2d 76, 80 (Neb. 1993); *Irvin*, 31 P.3d at 940-41; *Tumblin v. Ball-Incon Glass Packaging*, 478 S.E.2d 81, 85 (S.C. Ct. App. 1996).

In the context of medical malpractice actions in which the underlying facts are not in dispute, courts have frequently determined whether a physician-patient relationship exists as a matter of law. See Estate of Kundert v. Ill. Valley Cmty. Hosp., 964 N.E.2d 670 (Ill. App. 2012) (no hospital-patient relationship as a matter of law where hospital ER was contacted but declined to treat patient); Irvin, 31 P.3d at 943 (no physicianpatient relationship as a matter of law where neurosurgeon discussed case in general terms over telephone and agreed to see patient the following day); Corbet, 980 S.W.2d at 171 (no physician-patient relationship as a matter of law); Ortiz v. Glusman, 334 S.W.3d 812, 817 (Tex. App. 2011) (no physician-patient relationship as a matter of law where physician consulted by telephone but took no affirmative action to treat the patient); Fruiterman v. Granata, 668 S.E.2d 127 (Va. 2008) (no physician-patient relationship as a matter of law where no evidence physician undertook some affirmative act that would amount to rendering of health care to another); Jenkins v. Best, 250 S.W.3d 680 (Ky. Ct. App. 2007) (no physician-patient relationship as a matter of law where physician did not undertake to render medical care to patient).

As will be discussed in more detail below, the material facts in this case are not in dispute. It is uncontroverted that neither Dr. Wingert nor Dr.

Ryder took any affirmative action to treat F.L. The district court properly determined the issue of duty as a matter of law.

2. Dr. Wingert owed F.L. no duty as a matter of law

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